IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA CASE NO.: SC05-1301 LOWER TRIBUNAL CASE NO.: 02-5900 CF 10B

GERHARD HOJAN,

Appellant,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON DIRECT APPEAL FROM THE SEVENTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR BROWARD COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JOHN G. GEORGE, ESQ. Florida Bar No.: 369489 JOHN G. GEORGE, P.A. The Advocate Building - First Floor 315 Southeast Seventh Street Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33301 TEL: 954-522-1177 FAX: 954-522-1572 Attorney for Appellant

ISSUE I

TRIAL COURT ERRED IN OVERRULING DEFENSE OBJECTIONS OVER ADMISSION OF BARBARA NUNN'S RECORDED STATEMENT AS EXCITED UTTERANCE EXCEPTION TO THE HEARSAY RULE.

ISSUE II

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN IT RULED HOJAN'S MITIGATION WAIVER WAS A WAIVER OF DEATH PENALTY MOTIONS.

ISSUE III

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING DEFENDANT'S MOTION TO SUPPRESS STATEMENT CONFESSING TO CRIMES CHARGED.

ISSUE IV

THE FLORIDA DEATH PENALTY STATUTE IS UNCONSTITUTIONAL BECAUSE IT VIOLATES THE SIXTH AMENDMENT RIGHT TO HAVE AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCES FOUND BY THE JURY.

ISSUE V

FLORIDA'S DEATH PENALTY STATUTE VIOLATES THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION, ARTICLE I, SECTIONS 9 AND 17, AND THE U.S. CONSTITUTION, AMENDMENTS VIII AND XIV, BECAUSE IT DOES NOT REQUIRE NOTICE

OF AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCES, DOES NOT REQUIRE SPECIFIC JURY FINDINGS REGARDING THE SENTENCING FACTORS, PERMITS A MAJORITY

Х

RECOMMENDATION OF DEATH, IMPROPERLY SHIFTS THE BURDEN OF PROOF AND PERSUASION TO THE DEFENSE, AND FAILS TO ADEQUATELY GUIDE THE JURY'S DISCRETION, THEREBY PRECLUDING ADEQUATE APPELLATE REVIEW.

ISSUE VI

TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN IT FAILED TO FOLLOW PROCEDURES SET FORTH IN <u>KOON V. DUGGER</u> AND <u>MUHAMMAD V. STATE</u> DEPRIVING COURT OF ABILITY TO EFFECTIVELY CONSIDER MITIGATION EVIDENCE MAKING DEATH SENTENCE IMPROPER.

xi SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Appellant maintains that two (2) evidentiary errors require a new trial in his case. The Trial Court erroneously allowed, over timely and specific objection, the recorded statement of victim, Barbara Nunn, while she was being transported by ambulance to a helicopter pad for transport to a local hospital. The defense objected to the statement on the grounds of hearsay, but the Court overruled the objection on the basis of excited utterance. The defense was able to show that the victim was available and would be testifying. The statement was not an excited utterance since the victim had ample time to reflect prior to the statement and the recording was not a statement or excited utterance but rather an affirmative response to police interrogation. That is, it was more a statement of the police than the victim.

The Court also allowed, after timely and specific objection, Defendant's confession. Although detectives testified that the Defendant was read his Miranda Warnings, understood and waived them; nothing in the record evidences the precise warnings given, or any discussion with the Defendant prior to or during the administration of the rights. Police decided to record only the confession, but not the entire interrogation omitting approximately forty (40) minutes which included

the administration of Miranda Warnings. Police did not use a rights waiver form,

xii

because as the detective stated - "I never use one." Ironically and telling, this same officer utilized consent to search forms after receiving consent to search Defendant's vehicle.

Appellant further contends that the Trial Court erred when it extended his waiver of the presentation of mitigation evidence to post trial motions challenging the constitutionality of the death penalty and procedures utilized to instruct the Jury. The Motion had to do with matters of law, the constitutionality of the death penalty, and procedural matters concerning jury instructions. The Court wrongfully interpreted the waiver of mitigation evidence to include these motions warranting a new penalty phase trial.

The Trial Court erred in refusing to modify jury instructions as defense counsel requested. The standard jury instructions denigrate the jury's role by diminishing the importance of that verdict and the necessity to have it identify and rule on aggravating circumstances. Appellant also challenges the constitutionality of the death penalty because it does not require notice of aggravating circumstances, does not require specific jury findings as to sentencing factors, permits a majority recommendation of death, improperly shifts the burden of proof and persuasion to the defense, and fails to adequately guide the jury's discretion, thereby precluding Appellate review.

xiii

Finally, the Court erred in the procedures utilized when conducting a **Koon** hearing for the determination of Defendant's voluntary, knowing and intelligent waiver of his right to present mitigation evidence. The Defendant's insistence on not presenting any mitigation evidence, does not extend to the proffer of the existence and content of mitigation evidence. The absence of proffer prevents the Appellate Court from evaluating the proportionality of the death sentence imposed in this case.

STATEMENT OF FACTS AND OF THE CASE

Appellant/Defendant, GERHARD HOJAN (hereinafter, "HOJAN") was charged in a nine (9) count indictment by the Grand Jury in and for the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit, Broward County, Florida with Two (2) Counts of First Degree Murder, One (1) Count of Attempted First Degree Murder, One (1) Count of Attempted First Degree Felony Murder, Three (3) Counts of Armed Kidnaping, and Two (2) Counts of Armed Robbery. (R,24-29).

Trial began on September 30, 2003. On October 17, 2003, the Jury returned guilty verdicts on all counts (R 533-550). On November 24, 2003, the Jury voted 9-3 for recommendation of death in Counts I and II of the Indictment (R,781-782). On August 2, 2005, HOJAN was sentenced to death in Counts I and II and Life in prison in Counts III and V-IX; each sentence to run consecutively (R,934-958; 967-986). This Appeal follows (R,987).

I. <u>GUILT PHASE</u>

The facts of the case are derived from trial testimony. Surviving victim, Barbara Nunn (hereinafter, "NUNN"), testified that she was working as a cook at the Waffle House with Christina De La Rosa and Willie Absolu in the City

xiv

of Davie, Broward County, Florida. On March 11, 2003, at approximately 4:00 a.m., HOJAN and Co-Defendant, Jimmy Mickel, entered the restaurant and sat in a booth near the back. Nunn, who had worked with Jimmy Mickel and knew HOJAN as his friend, walked over to say hello. Nunn testified that she worked with Jimmy Mickel at the Waffle House in the past and he helped her get into a night club where Jimmy Mickel worked without having to pay. She knew both, HOJAN and Co-Defendant, Mickel. She further testified that she knew HOJAN not as Gerhard, but as "Chip" (Vol. 11, T 1399-1407).

NUNN told Christina De La Rosa to wait on HOJAN and Mickel, which she did. They ordered a waffle and Christina De La Rosa went to make it. When they finished eating, Jimmy Mickel got up and walked outside. A short time later, HOJAN got up and walked over to the cash register to pay his bill. Christina De La Rosa was there to collect the money. NUNN testified that shortly after HOJAN paid the bill, Jimmy Mickel re-entered the eatery. NUNN testified that Jimmy was "hugging the wall" that leads to the bathroom. She explained that upon re-entering, Mickel walked quickly and very close to the wall leading to the bathrooms (Vol 11. T 1409-1411).

NUNN testified that as she got up to tend to her work, she heard a clicking noise. She shifted her gaze to HOJAN ("Chip") and saw him holding a

2

gun. NUNN testified that she saw HOJAN'S hands and he was not wearing any gloves (Vol 12. T 1458). HOJAN ordered the three (3) employees to the back of the restaurant. NUNN, De La Rosa and Willy Absolu started walking towards the back of the restaurant to where the refrigerator/freezer was located. NUNN testified that when she was led to the back of the restaurant, she saw Jimmy Mickel back there with "clippers" in his hands. NUNN testified that she saw Jimmy Mickel snipping a padlock (Vol 11. T 1411-1414).

NUNN alleges that HOJAN made the three (3) employees walk to the back of the refrigerator and into the freezer. She described the freezer as having shelves on the inside and a big metal door which closed automatically. The door could be opened from the inside, but no one attempted to leave. After herding the employees into the freezer, HOJAN left, only to return a short time later to collect NUNN's cell phone (Vol 11. T 1416-1419).

NUNN alleged that HOJAN returned a second time demanding that the three (3) empty their pockets and place their belongings on a shelf near the freezer door. NUNN testified that she placed approximately Eighty-two Dollars (\$82.00) and De La Rosa placed approximately Two Hundred Dollars (\$200.00) on the shelf. NUNN stated that HOJAN demanded Willy Absolu turn over his wallet, but Willy Absolu claimed not to have a wallet on him. NUNN testified that HOJAN took the money and left the freezer (Vol 11. T 1419-1422). Despite NUNN's testimony that Willy Absolu claimed not to have a wallet, Absolu's wallet was later found on the shelf in the freezer (Exhibits 58-59; Vol.Copies of Exhibits); (Vol 12. T 1647-1648).

NUNN began expressing fears that they would be killed because she knew and could identify Jimmy Mickel and HOJAN. She testified that Willy Absolu tried to assure them that everything would be all right. At that point, NUNN testified that HOJAN returned to the freezer and allegedly ordered everyone to turn around and get down on their knees (Vol 11. T 1423). She testified that Christina De La Rosa and Willy Absolu did as they were directed, but she refused. NUNN stated that she tried to talk to HOJAN. She tried to convince him that he did not have to do it. She testified that as the "gun" got closer to her, she moved her head erratically and then heard and felt a shot. She testified that she fell and could not recall anything after that until she regained consciousness (Vol 11. T 1424).

NUNN testified that when she "woke up", she moved Willy Absolu's leg off of her and crawled out of the freezer. She did not see any blood, but felt wet. NUNN left the restaurant through the back door and made her way to a gas station next to the Waffle House. She testified that she rang a "doorbell" and the attendant let her in. She said that she told the attendant not to let in a white male and a "large Mexican". (Vol 11. T 1426-1428).

Danish Kahn, the gas station attendant, testified that he was working in the back of the Shell Gas Station in the early morning hours of March 11, 2002, when he heard a banging at the front door to the station. He stated that he let Barbara Nunn in and saw her bleeding from the head. He testified that she came to the counter and fell to the floor screaming not to open the door, because two guys were trying to kill her, one Mexican and one white. Mr. Kahn said that he called 911 and made other calls to NUNN's family as she directed. Mr. Kahn testified that Ms. Nunn never identified the perpetrators by name nor did she ever indicate that she knew them (Vol 11. T 1310-1312; 1319-1320).

Shortly thereafter, police arrived. Firefighter/Paramedic Steven Cacciola responded to the Shell Gas Station and tended to Barbara Nunn. He testified that he saw NUNN sitting upright in a pool of blood. Nunn told the Paramedic that "Jimmy shot her, he used to work here". She further advised that Jimmy was with a big, fat Mexican. The Paramedic moved NUNN outside. She was transported by helicopter to the hospital (Vol 11. T 1323-1327).

NUNN testified that she recalled seeing a police officer at the Shell Gas Station. She said she told police that "Jimmy did it" because she could not remember HOJAN'S name (Vol 11. T 1428-1430). Officer Patrick Donnelly testified that he took a statement from NUNN at the Shell Gas Station, and along the way to the hospital he recorded a statement. First she said that the former employee robbed the place. Then on tape, while being transported to the hospital, approximately 15-20 minutes later, she told Officer Donnelly that a big Mexican with Jimmy did the shooting (Vol 11. T 1350-1351).

Upon her arrival at the hospital, NUNN was treated in the emergency room by Technician Michael Herald. He assisted getting Ms. Nunn into a trauma room and observed a bullet fragment from the back of her head. He collected the fragment and turned it over to police (Vol 11 T 1335-1336). Officer Donnelly of the Davie Police Department collected the projectile (Vol 11. T 1379). Donnelly turned the projectile over to the Broward Sheriff's Office Crime Scene Investigator Shinaberry (Vol 11 T 1380).

At the scene, Davie Police Officer Lazaro Rodriguez, one of the first officers on the scene, entered the Waffle House. He noticed blood on the floor as he worked his way to the back of the restaurant. He testified that he found the victims, a white female and a black male, on the floor in the freezer. By the looks of things, he assumed they were dead. (Vol 10. T 1289-1290). The bodies of Christina De La Rosa and Willy Absolu were taken to the morgue where Doctor

6

Linda O'Neal performed the autopsies. She testified that Ms. De La Rosa sustained two gun shot wounds. One wound was to the left breast which penetrated to the spinal column and severed the spinal cord. The second shot was to the neck and severed the Carotid Artery. The Doctor opined that each wound was fatal in and of itself. Death came within a minute or two. Dr. O'Neal testified that Willy Absolu also sustained two gun shot wounds. The first was to the left arm and was considered a defensive wound. It would not have been fatal. The second wound was to the head and was fatal. She opined that death came to Mr. Absolu within a minute. (Vol 14. T 1746-1773).

Detective JoAnn Carter visited Barbara Nunn at the hospital approximately 14 hours after the incident. Detective Carter showed NUNN two (2) photo lineups. In the first photo lineup, the detective testified that NUNN picked out Hojan and identified him as the shooter, but at no time did Nunn identify him by name. The Detective then showed NUNN a second lineup and NUNN picked out Jimmy Mickel. The Detective testified that NUNN identified Mickel by name as the individual that came in to have breakfast and that he was a former employee of the Waffle House. (Vol 12 T 1492-1494).

Broward Sherrif's Office processed the scene and collected evidence at the Waffle House and other locations. Deputy Shineberry testified that he

photographed the Waffle House scene, collected latent fingerprints including dusting the freezer door, shoe prints, blood samples, and swabbed areas for DNA evidence. The Deputy also collected shell casings, shell fragments and pad locks which had been cut. He collected the projectile fragment given to him by Officer Donnelly which was removed from NUNN at the hospital. All the items collected were the sent to the Sherrif's Office Lab for testing (Vol 13. T 1531-1603). Authorities failed to match any of the tangible evidence collected to HOJAN. Diedra Bucknor, a fingerprint examiner testified that none of the fingerprints collected matched HOJAN. (Vol. 13 T 1665-1688). Detective Thomas Scott Hill, a footprint expert evaluated the footprint evidence collected at the Waffle House and did not find a match to HOJAN (Vol. 13. T 1689-1700). Donna Marchese, a DNA expert with the Sheriff's office, tested all the blood evidence, swabs, and clothing collected by detectives. She testified that there was no DNA evidence linking HOJAN to the crime or crime scene. (Vol 14 T 1732-1739).

After Jimmy Mickel was in custody, he directed detectives to the location of the gun. Davie Police Detective James Franquiz testified that he found the gun in bushes in Fort Lauderdale as directed by Mickel. (Vol 16 T 1937-1938, 1968-1969). **HOJAN** was arrested in Lee County, Florida by the Lee County Sheriff's Department. Detectives from Davie, Florida, traveled to Lee County and while there Mirandized, HOJAN and took a recorded statement. (Vol 17 T 2006-2016).

The trial began on September 30, 2003. The jury was selected by stipulation of the State and defense after four (4) days of Voir Dire. (Vol 10 T 1209-1220). The Jury returned a Guilty verdict on all counts (R 533-550).

II. <u>PENALTY PHASE</u>

Prior to commencement of the penalty phase, defense counsel advised the Court that **HOJAN** was waiving presentation of any mitigation evidence. Counsel explained their efforts to change **HOJAN'S** mind, but without success. Counsel further advised that a competency exam was ordered and HOJAN was found to be competent. The Trial Court conducted an inquiry pursuant to Koon v. Dugger, 619 So.2d 246 (FL 1993) and Muhammad v. State 782 So.2d 343 (FL 2001), satisfying itself that HOJAN was competent and made a knowing and intelligent waiver of his right to present mitigation evidence during the penalty phase (Vol. 22; T 2502-2580). The State proceeded with its presentation of statutory aggravators. The jury returned a recommendation of Death in Counts I and II by a vote of 9-3 on November 24, 2003 (R 781-782). The Court appointed counsel to represent the Court and investigate mitigation evidence which the Court might consider in determining the proper sentence (R 787). On March 18, 2004, a **Spencer** Hearing began in accordance with **Spencer v State**, 615 So2d 688

(Fla 1993). Court appointed Counsel attempted to provide mitigation evidence without much success. (Vol 43 T 2990-2999). The hearing was held over three days which included April 1, 2004, and April 14, 2004 (Vol. 44 T 3071-3076 & Vol 45 T 3079-3082). On August 2, 2005, the Court read its findings into the record. The Court found six (6) Statutory Aggravators: Defendant was previously convicted of another capital felony or a felony involving the use or threat of violence; the capital felony was committed while Defendant was engaged in the commission of, attempt to commit, or flight after committing the crime of Armed Kidnaping; the capital felony was committed for the purpose of avoiding or preventing lawful arrest; the capital felony was committed for financial gain; the capital felony was especially heinous, atrocious, and cruel; finally, the capital felony was committed in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner. The Court gave each aggravator great weight. The Court found the following statutory mitigators: the Defendant has no significant history of prior criminal activity; the age of the Defendant at the time of the crime; the Defendant acted under the substantial domination of another person; the capital felony was committed while the Defendant was under the influence of extreme mental or emotional disturbance; and, the capacity of the Defendant to appreciate the criminality of his or her conduct or to conform his conduct to the requirements of law was substantially

impaired. The Courts gave each mitigator little weight or found that it did not apply do to a lack of evidence. The Court also examined the following nonstatutory mitigators: Defendant suffered abuse as a child (not applicable); the Defendant was a good son, parent and provider (little weight); Defendant exhibited good behavior while in custody (little weight); Defendant has shown remorse (not applicable) (R967-986, Vol 46 T 3104-3133). The Court sentenced **HOJAN** to death on Counts I & II and to Life on Counts III & V-IX. Each sentence to run consecutively to the other Counts. (R 931-958, Vol 46 T 3133-3138). This Appeal follows (R987-988).

ISSUE I

TRIAL COURT ERRED IN OVERRULING DEFENSE OBJECTIONS OVER ADMISSION OF BARBARA NUNN'S RECORDED STATEMENT AS EXCITED UTTERANCE EXCEPTION TO THE HEARSAY RULE.

The Trial Court erred when it overruled defense objections and admitted victim, Barbara Nunn's, recorded statement as excited utterance exception to the Hearsay Rule.

Davie Police Officer Patrick Donnelly was one of the first officials to respond to the Shell Gas Station where Barbara Nunn (NUNN) had taken refuge. (Vol. 11, T1350-1351). The police officer had a brief conversation with NUNN, but testified that she was mumbling. "I could hardly understand her." The officer was able to discern from NUNN that an ex-employee came in and robbed the place. She only mentioned that the ex-employee was with a big Mexican (Vol. 11, T1152-1153). Thereafter, NUNN was moved to an ambulance.

On Voir Dire, the defense attempted to establish a time line for each stage of the officer's encounter. Officer Donnelly estimated that approximately fifteen (15) minutes or more elapsed before he started taping NUNN'S responses to the officer's questions. (Vol. 11, T1363-1369).

During the taped statement, it is an unknown officer, identified only as

Officer 2, who elicits the testimony against HOJAN.

Officer 2: "	Okay, who did the shooting? Was it, was it Jimmy	
or was it the Mexican?"		
NUNN:	"The Mexican."	
OFFICER 2:	"The Mexican did the shooting"?	
NUNN:	"Yes, yes."	

(Vol. 11, T1360).

Officer Donnelly testified that he believed the other official was the paramedic (Vol. 11, T1369). The paramedic is never identified and does not testify. The only paramedic who testified was Steven Caciola, and nowhere in his testimony does he advise that he traveled with NUNN in the ambulance to the helicopter (Vol. 11, T 1323-1334).

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