IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC05-1687

GERHARD HOJAN

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SEVENTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR BROWARD COUNTY, FLORIDA, (CRIMINAL DIVISION)

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

WILLIAM McCOLLUM Attorney General Tallahassee, FL

Lisa-Marie Lerner Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No.: 698271 1515 N. Flagler Dr.; Ste. 900 West Palm Beach, FL 33401 Telephone (561) 837-5000 Facsimile (561) 837-5108 Counsel for Appellee

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

THE COURT: Are you still instructing your lawyers to present no

mitigation on your behalf?

DEFENDANT HOJAN: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: Are you still instructing your lawyers to present no

argument on your behalf?

DEFENDANT HOJAN: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: Have you determined whether or not you wish this

Court to give the jury any type of instruction on your position?

DEFENDANT HOJAN: No, sir.

THE COURT: You want me to say anything at all?

DEFENDANT HOJAN: No, sir.

THE COURT: Are you intending to take the stand and say --

DEFENDANT HOJAN: No, I'm not going to say nothing.

THE COURT: You understand that you do have the right to do that if

you choose?

DEFENDANT HOJAN: Yes, sir.

(T:2584-85).

Essentially, Hojan waived the entire defense participation in the penalty phase, as was his right. It is well established that a competent defendant may waive his right to present either mitigating evidence in the penalty phase of his first-degree murder trial or the entire penalty phase. Fla. Stat. § 921.141(1) (1991); See Durocher v. State, 604 So. 2d 810, 812 (Fla. 1992); Pettit v. State, 591 So. 2d 618, 620 (Fla. 1992); Hamblen v. State, 527 So. 2d 800, 804 (Fla. 1988). The trial court did not abuse its discretion by accepting Hojan's withdrawal of the penalty phase motions. "Discretion is abused only 'when the judicial action is arbitrary, fanciful, or unreasonable, which is another way of saying that discretion is abused only where no reasonable [person] would take the view adopted by the trial court."

Trease v. State, 768 So. 2d 1050, 1053 n.2 (Fla. 2000) (quoting Huff v. State, 569 So. 2d 1247, 1249 (Fla. 1990)). The record clearly demonstrates that Hojan withdrew or abandoned all pending motions for the penalty phase trial; the trial court did not rule the mitigation waiver also waived the motions.

Any error is also harmless and not fundamental. The Florida Supreme Court has consistently held that challenges to the death penalty statutes must be raised at trial by the defendant in order to be preserved. Such challenges cannot, therefore, be fundamental. In <u>Farina v. State</u>, 937 So.2d 612, 629 (Fla. 2006) this court reaffirmed that failing to obtain a ruling on a motion or an objection, fails to preserve it for appeal:

As we have held, the failure to obtain a ruling on a motion or objection fails to preserve an issue for appeal. Armstrong v. State, 642 So.2d 730, 740 (Fla.1994) (holding that the defendant's pretrial request for a Magnetic Resonance Imaging (MRI) test was procedurally barred because the trial judge reserved ruling on the issue and never issued a ruling) (*citing* Richardson v. State, 437 So.2d 1091, 1093 (Fla.1983)).

Additionally, the trial court ruled on essentially the same motions in the pre-trial hearing held on September 2, 2003. Hojan has not demonstrated that any of his revised motions, filed a scant two months later, contained any additional facts or law which would have resulted in different rulings. It is reasonable to assume that the trial court would have made the same rulings denying the motions had Hojan

allowed the his attorneys to argue the motions and the court to rule on them. Any error by the trial court in not ruling on the revised motions is, therefore, harmless. See Caso v. State, 524 So. 2d 422, 424 (Fla. 1988)(determining that "[a] conclusion of decision of a trial court will generally be affirmed, even when based on erroneous reasoning, if the evidence or an alternative theory supports it"); Van Den Borre v. State, 596 So.2d 687,690 (Fla. 4 th DCA 1992)(it is well settled that a trial judge can be right for the wrong reason); Stuart v. State, 360 So.2d 406 (Fla.1978)(affirmance is required when the ruling is correct, albeit for the wrong reasons). Hojan has also failed to give this Court any additional information to show there are any constitutional infirmities with the jury instructions or other death penalty statutes. This Court should deny relief on this claim.

ISSUE III

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY FOUND A KNOWING AND INTELLIGENT WAIVER OF MIRANDA BY HOJAN AND PROPERLY DENIED THE MOTION TO SUPPRESS. (restated)

In his next claim, Hojan contends the trial court erred in not suppressing his March 12, 2002 statement due to police failure to memorialize the actual <u>Miranda</u> warnings and waiver in either a written or taped audio form. He argues that the time he spent in the Lee County Sheriffs department prior to the arrival of the

Davie police officer as well as the 40 minutes of untaped interview resulted in the detectives overcoming his free will thereby rendering his statement involuntary in violation of Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436. (IB 25) He also erroneously states that the trial court issued no written order denying his motion to suppress. He further asserts that the *process* utilized by the Davie police in interviewing Hojan was unreliable and essentially a secret interrogation resulting in a false confession. This claim is without merit since the record shows the detectives fully advised Hojan of his Miranda rights which he knowingly and voluntarily waived. The State asks this court to affirm the trial court's written ruling.

The review standard is that "a presumption of correctness" applies to a court's determination of historical facts, but a *de novo* standard applies to legal issues and mixed questions of law and fact which ultimately determine constitutional issues. Smithers v. State, 826 So.2d 916 (Fla. 2002); Connor v. State, 803 So.2d 598 (Fla. 2001); Parker v. State, 873 So.2d 270, 279 (Fla. 2004). The trial court's ruling on the voluntariness of a confession should not be disturbed unless it is clearly erroneous. Escobar v. State, 699 So. 2d 988, 993-994 (Fla. 1997); Davis v. State, 594 So. 2d 264, 266 (Fla. 1992). Where the evidence is conflicting, the trial court's finding will not be disturbed. Thomas v. State, 456 So. 2d 454 (Fla. 1984); Calvert v. State, 730 So. 2d 316, 318 (Fla. 5th DCA 1999). See

<u>Wuornos v. State</u>, 644 So. 2d 1000 (Fla. 1994) (finding even though defendant's former lover encouraged defendant to confess, partly out of fear of prosecution as accomplice, as a whole, defendant's will not overborne by any official misconduct).

"When, as here, a defendant challenges the voluntariness of his or her confession, the burden is on the State to establish by a preponderance of the evidence that the confession was freely and voluntarily given." DeConingh v. State, 433 So.2d 501 (Fla. 1983). "In order to find that a confession is involuntary within the meaning of the Fourth Amendment, there must first be a finding that there was coercive police conduct." State v. Sawyer, 561 So. 2d 278, 281 (Fla. 2d DCA 1990), citing Colorado v. Connelly, 479 U.S. 157 (1986). "The test of determining whether there was police coercion is determined by reviewing the totality of the circumstances under which the confession was obtained." Sawyer, 561 So.2d at 281.

Essentially, Hojan is challenging the veracity of Anton's statement that he gave the full Miranda warnings and Hojan waived his rights. The trial court held an evidentiary hearing on the suppression motion on September 2, 2003 and denied the motion. On November 13, 2003³ the court memorialized its factual findings

³The court nunc pro tunc'd the order to the date of the oral ruling, September 9, 2003.

and rulings in a written order denying the motion to suppress, contrary to Hojan's assertions. (IB 25) In finding that Hojan was read and waived his rights, it implicitly found Anton credible.⁴

...[Detective Anton] testified that he read the Defendant his Miranda rights, item by item. Detective Anton then testified that the Defendant understood each right he was giving up. Detective Anton stated that he did not threaten or coerce the Defendant into making a statement nor did he make him any promises or inducements. The Defendant never asked for an attorney or declined to speak. The Defendant made incriminating statements on tape to Detective Anton.

...On the tape, the Defendant was responsive and gave detailed answers. He answered the questions without hesitation, in a relaxed and natural manner. The Defendant's conduct during the interview was consistent with someone who had waived his rights. He did not sound afraid or overly tired. He never asked for an attorney or declined to speak.

...Based on the totality of the circumstances, which include, but are not limited to: the witnesses' testimony at the hearing, four depositionis entered into evidence and the Defendant's taped statements this Court finds that the Defendant's waiver of his rights, "was voluntary, in the sense that it was the product of free and deliberate choice rather than by intimidation, coercion or deception." Additionally, this Court finds that the record reflects that the waiver of the Defendant's Miranda rights "was executed with [the Defendant's] full awareness of the nature of the rights being abandoned and the consequences of their abandonement. ... The record establised that the Defendant was advised of his Miranda rights before questioning and the taping of his statement. At no time did the Defendant request cessation of the question, or an attorney. The Defendant responded calmly and naturally to the questions he was asked and gave detailed answers. The Defendant's conduct during the interview was consistent with someone who had waived his rights. The State has shown, by a

⁴In bears noting that Hojan refused to testify at the suppression hearing so there was no evidence before the trial court refuting Anton's statement. (T:2881-83).

preponderance of the evidence, that the statements, confessions, and admissions were freely and voluntarily given.

This Court further finds sufficient probably cause for the Defendant's arrest. The surviving victim, Barbara Nunn, identified the Defendant and Jimmy Mickel based on prior knowledge and observationi. In the hospital, Ms. Nunn positively and immediately identified the suspects. Ms. Nunn's identification and the substantial information developed by Davie police provided sufficient and substantial probable cause for the arrest. The Defendant was properly and legally arrested.

(ROA:761-63) (Citing State v. Sliney, 699 So.2d 662, 688 (Fla. 1997)).

There was competent substantial evidence supporting the court's findings. Deputy Hamilton of the Lee County Sheriff's Office testified that he was the supervisor conducting the felony stop of Hojan in Lehigh Acres. He was present when Hojan was secured and patted down for weapons. His only statement to Hojan was that he, the officer, would respect Hojan if Hojan showed respect for the police. He asked no questions of Hojan. Hojan's only comment was that he did not know what was going on. (SRT:24). Once at the sheriff's station, Hamilton placed Hojan in an interview room. No one interrogated him pending the arrival of the officers from the Davie police department, who arrived an hour after Hojan had been stopped. Hamilton also said that Hojan was coherent, did not seem under the influence of alcohol or drugs, never asked to speak with an attorney, and never asked about the crime. (SRT:25-27). Lee County Sheriff's deputy Gregory Kircikyan ("Kircikyan") was the officer who handcuffed Hojan. Hojan told him

that the television news had his picture so he was going to the station to find out why. Kircikyan's only words to Hojan were asking whether he wanted something to eat or to drink once he was in the interview room. During the 30 to 40 minutes he was with Hojan, Hojan behaved normally and did not smell of alcohol. (SRT:50-54).

John Stokes ("Stokes") of the Davie Police Department testified about that agency gathering identifying information Hojan and contacted Lee County Sheriff's Department to assist in locating and monitoring him. (T:2803-12, 2817). Robert Anton ("Anton"), an officer with the Davie PD testified that he went to Lee County and began to interview Hojan at the sheriff's station at 1:40 AM. The interview room was 10 feet by 12 with normal florescent lights. Hogan gave him written consent to search his truck; the offense listed at the top of the consent form was "Robbery/ Homicide." (T:2827-30). Anton stated that he read Hojan his complete Miranda rights from a standard form. He went through them one by one and Hojan waived them. At no time did Hojan request an attorney or to end the interview. Anton initially did not tape the first 35 minutes of the interview although he had a tape recorder in his car. (T:2831-35). It was Anton's practice, and Davie procedure, to read the Miranda form but not get a signed waiver. Anton did not begin by taping an interview since he wanted to build rapport with the

individual. He built rapport with Hojan in a few minutes but did not want to interrupt Hojan's story. (T:2866-75).

Around 2:15 AM Anton asked Hojan if he could use a tape and Hojan said yes. He offered Hojan a bathroom break before the taped portion of the interview but he refused. (T:2831-35). Once the taped interview began, Anton referred back to Hojan's waiver of rights and that Anton had neither threatened or promised anything. Throughout the entire interview Hojan was calm and cooperative. The taped interview ended at 2:48 AM. (T:2836). Toward the end of his confession, Hojan confirmed that the police neither threatened or coerced him, nor did they make him any promises. He gave the statement of his own free will. The police had offered him food and water but he had declined. (T:2853-55).

The court's findings are supported by the record and its legal conclusions are proper. Moran v. Burbine, 475 U.S. 412 (1986) (finding constitution does not require suspect know and understand every possible consequence of Miranda waiver); Oregon v. Elstad, 470 U.S. 298, 316-17 (1985). Once Miranda warnings are given, official silence cannot cause a suspect to misunderstand the nature of his rights. See U.S. v. Washington, 431 U.S. 181, 188 (1977). As noted in Washington, a defendant who has been advised he has the right to remain silent is in a curious position to complain his statement was compelled. Id. There is no

constitutional requirement a suspect be given all the information he may feel useful in making his decision or "might...affect his decision to confess." Moran, 475 U.S. at 422. The police have never been required to help a suspect decide whether or not to talk. Id. It has never been a constitutional requirement the police make sure the defendant's waiver was a prudent decision. None of the evidence at the suppression hearing showed any coercion or undue pressure on Hojan. He sat in an interview room, essentially alone, for almost an hour awaiting the arrival of the Davie officers. Prior to Anton's interview, the only comments made by officers to him were that he would be treated with respect if he acted respectfully and inquiries about food. Anton interviewed him for under 40 minutes before he went to get the tape. Hojan confessed to the crimes both during the initial untaped interview and in the taped portion. Hojan's ominous and vague allegations of secret police actions coercing confessions does not comport with the evidence presented in this case. Nor is there any evidence at all that Hojan suffers from cognitive limitations similar to those present in Townsend v. State, 420 So. 2d 615 (Fla 4th DCA 1982). This Court should deny relief on this claim.

ISSUE IV

<u>RING V. ARIZONA</u> DOES NOT RENDER FLORIDA'S CAPITAL SENTENCING UNCONSTITUTIONAL. (restated)

Hojan challenges Florida's capital sentencing scheme arguing that Ring v. Arizona, 536 U.S. 584 (2002) rendered it unconstitutional. While he acknowledges that this Court has repeatedly rejected the challenges to Florida's capital sentencing statute, he claims those prior decisions erroneous. Hojan failed to preserve this issue for appeal by explicitly withdrawing the motion from the trial court's consideration. Furthermore, this Court has consistently held the Florida death penalty statute constitutional. Hojan's sentence should be affirmed.

As discussed in Issue II above, Hojan specifically withdrew all his penalty phase motions as part of his decision not to present any mitigation evidence and essentially not to participate in the penalty phase portion of the trial. (T:2534-59, 2567-72). While the trial court did consider the motions pre-trial and denied them (T:2890-2904), Hojan refused to allow the court to reconsider them or rule on any amended motions at the actual penalty phase trial. Consequently, he failed to preserve those motions for appellate review and, thus, waived them. See Steinhorst v. State, 412 So.2d 332, 338 (Fla. 1982)(holding except for fundamental error, an issue will not be considered on appeal unless it was presented to lower court; to be cognizable, "it must be the specific contention asserted as legal ground for the

objection, exception, or motion below").

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